
From: Michael Smith
To: stolbert@TolbertLegal.com
Cc: Rachelle Ponist
Subject: Tort Claim Notice and Notice to Public School
Date: Friday, July 19, 2019 12:28:00 AM
Attachments: Tort claim notice - final.pdf

School Claim Notice - final.pdf

Ms. Tolbert,

Hand Ponist represents Mr. Jean-Christophe Scheere who purchased the wooden
model of the Chicago Picasso at auction on January 19, 2019.  I understand that you
represent the Gary Community School Corporation, or at least you did so recently
when communicated with David Sanders of The Patterson Law Firm in Chicago about
this matter.  Attached are two statutorily required notices that my partner, Rachelle
Ponist, just sent out, a tort claim notice under IC 34-13-3-8 and a school claim notice
under IC 34-13-3.5-4.

Assuming you still represent the School Corporation, we’d be pleased to speak with
you regarding the possibility of a mutually agreed resolution as proposed in the
School Claim Notice.

We look forward to hearing from you.  Thank you.

Mike

________________________________
Michael Ray Smith
Partner
Hand Ponist Horvath Smith & Rayl, LLC
1512 N. Delaware Street
Indianapolis, IN 46202
317-576-8542 (direct)
msmith@handponist.com
www.handponist.com

***PLEASE NOTE THAT OUR FIRM NAME AND CONTACT INFORMATION HAVE CHANGED. PLEASE
UPDATE OUR CONTACT INFORMATION IN YOUR SYSTEM.***

This message and its contents are CONFIDENTIAL and may be PRIVILEGED. No one other than the intended recipient may
forward, print, copy, disclose, distribute, or use this message or the information it contains. If you have received this message
in error, please notify the sender at the e-mail address or telephone number above and remove all copies of this e-mail from
your email system and device.
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July 16, 2019 
 


Via Certified Mail, Return Receipt 
 
City of Gary       7015 0640 0002 0509 9628 
c/o The Office of Corporation Counsel 
401 Broadway, 1st Floor 
Gary, Indiana 46402 
 
Gary School Corporation     7015 0640 0002 0509 9611 
c/o Gary Schools Recovery, LLC 
150 West Market Street, Suite 800 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204    
 
Indiana Distressed Unit Appeal Board   7015 0640 0002 0509 9604 
One North Capital Avenue, Suite 900 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204     
 
Indiana Political Subdivision     7015 0640 0002 0509 9598 
Risk Management Commission 
311 West Washington Street 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204 
 


TORT CLAIM NOTICE 
 
RE: Claimant: Jean-Christophe Scheere 
 Address of Claimant:  c/o Hand Ponist Horvath Smith & Rayl, LLC 
    1512 N. Delaware St. 
    Indianapolis, IN 46202 
 Date of Event: January 19, 2019 – March 15, 2019 
 
Greetings: 
 
 This Tort Claim Notice is provided pursuant to Ind. Code 34-13-3 et seq. to advise the 
above identified political subdivisions and their employees of the claims of Claimant as identified 
above.  On or about January 19, 2019 through March 15, 2019, Jean-Christophe Scheere was the 
victim of tortious acts as further described herein. 
 
 The focal point of this tort claim is a wooden model of the Picasso sculpture that stands in 
Chicago’s Daley Plaza (the “Model”) that Mr. Scheere purchased from the Gary School 
Corporation (the “School”) at an auction (the “Auction Sale”) conducted by Kraft Auction Services 
LLC (“Kraft”). In late 2018, the Emergency Manager, Gary Schools Recovery LLC, decided that 
the School should sell the Model. The Emergency Manager entered into an agreement with Kraft 
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to offer the Model for sale in Kraft’s 42nd Anniversary Antique and Collection Auction to be held 
in Valparaiso, Porter County, Indiana over several days in January 2019. Kraft advertised the 
offering of the Model at the Auction Sale on its own website, on the websites of the major internet 
auction platforms, in the catalogs of various auctioneers around the world, and in local Gary 
newspapers. 


 
Mr. Scheere, after learning that the Model would be offered for sale, completed Kraft’s 


process for registering as a bidder in the Auction Sale. On January 19, 2019, Kraft opened bidding 
on the Model. Bids were accepted in person in Valparaiso, over the internet, and by telephone. Mr. 
Scheere put in his bid via telephone from Brussels, Belgium. When Kraft closed bidding the same 
day, Mr. Scheere’s bid of $20,000 was the highest.  


 
On January 22, 2019, Kraft sent Mr. Scheere an email confirming that he had submitted 


the winning bid, congratulating him on his purchase, instructing him to wire to Kraft the amount 
of $23,000 (US) as payment of the purchase price and expenses, and inviting him to make 
arrangements to transport the Model to his desired destination. On January 23, 2019, Mr. Scheere 
wired to Kraft the amount of $23,000 (US).  


 
Shortly after the Auction Sale of the Model was complete, Gary City Councilwoman 


Rebecca Wyatt, became aware that the Model had been sold. Ms. Wyatt contacted Mayor Karen 
Freeman-Wilson (the “Mayor”) and the Emergency Manager inquiring if they had been notified 
of the Auction Sale as required by I.C. § 6-1.1-20.3-8.5. The Mayor acknowledged receiving a 
notice but claimed that the notice did not itemize the assets to be sold. Prior to the Auction Sale, 
the Mayor never objected to the Model being sold. After learning that the Model had been sold to 
Mr. Scheere, the Mayor, the School, and the Emergency Manager collectively and collaboratively 
decided to illegally reopen bidding from January 29, 2019 through February 28, 2019.   


 
On or about February 27, 2019, the Mayor and Emergency Manager held a public meeting 


to discuss the sale of art owned by the School. During the public meeting, Ms. Wyatt expressed 
her anger, accusing the Emergency Manager of selling off the City of Gary’s history.  The next 
day, when no one else had bid on the Model by the close of bidding, the School, the Emergency 
Manager, and the City, decided to illegally extend the bidding yet again until March 15, 2019.  


 
Meanwhile, Mr. Scheere was completely unaware that the School, the Emergency 


Manager, and the City were acting in concert to deny him his legal rights to the Model that he had 
lawfully purchased. While they schemed on how to get out of the purchase contract, Mr. Scheere 
was contacting companies that specialized in transporting artwork to have the Model shipped to 
Belgium. Between January 19, 2019 and March 14, 2019, not a single person, office, or entity 
notified Mr. Scheere that there was a question about the validity of the Auction Sale. It was not 
until March 14, 2019, the day prior to the expiration of the extended bidding process, that Mr. 
Scheere was finally notified by Kraft that the School, Emergency Manager, and the City had 
decided to put the Model back up for auction. By then, it was too late for Mr. Scheere to take legal 
action to stop the purported second sale of the Model. When bidding closed on March 15, 2019, 
Paul Terrault, was announced as the highest bidder with a bid of $40,500. 


 







Jean-Christophe Scheere Tort Claim Notice 
July 16, 2019 


 


3 
 


Mr. Scheere requested possession of the Model, but was denied possession by the School, 
the City, and the Emergency Manager. While the Mayor believed that the sale to Mr. Scheere was 
not valid, she was wholly incorrect in her understanding of the authority given to the Emergency 
Manager. While Indiana Code § 6-1.1-20.3-8.5(b) states that the Emergency Manager shall notify 
the Mayor at least 30 days in advance of selling assets, the statute does not require that the notice 
be itemized. The Mayor was notified at least 30 days before the Auction Sale, but she did not 
object or raise any concerns. Therefore, the notice served its statutory purpose and the sale was 
properly authorized. Moreover, the Auction Sale was valid even if the Emergency Manager did 
not satisfy the statutory requirement for notice to the Mayor because the requirement to furnish 
notice to the Mayor is an obligation of the Emergency Manager, similar to other reporting 
obligations the statute imposes on the Emergency Manager and not a condition to the Emergency 
Manager’s authority to cause the sale or transfer of assets or property of the School Corporation. 
That authority to sell exists whether the Emergency Manager gave perfect notice, flawed notice, 
or even no notice at all. The statute gives the Mayor the right to be heard by the Emergency 
Manager, but not the power to stop a sale or transfer, and it gives the Emergency Manager the 
obligation to confer with the Mayor, but not to honor her preferences. 


 
Under I.C. § 26-1-2-328(2), “A sale by auction is complete when the auctioneer so 


announces by the fall of the hammer or in other customary manner,” and I.C. § 26-1-2-106 defines 
a “sale” as the passing of title from the seller to the buyer. Accordingly, when Kraft announced 
the closing of bids at the Auction Sale on January 19, 2019 (whether by the fall of a hammer, by 
announcing “sold,” or otherwise), title to the Model passed immediately to the highest bidder, Mr. 
Scheere. Once the bidding Auction Sale closed on January 19, 2019, neither Kraft, nor the School, 
nor the Emergency Manager, nor the City had any lawful power or authority to cancel or revoke 
the sale of the Model to Mr. Scheere. After the Auction Sale, the School held no title because all 
title it previously held passed to Mr. Scheere. After Mr. Scheere paid for the Model, he held not 
only title but also an exclusive, unqualified, unconditional right to immediate possession. 


 
Since March of 2019, Mr. Scheere has made multiple demands for possession of the Model 


as the legal and rightful owner. However, the City, the School, and the Emergency Manager, have 
failed to turn over possession of the Model to Mr. Scheere.  


 
As a result of the above-mentioned facts and issues, the City of Gary is liable for the 


following: 
 


1. Civil Conversion: 
a. The City acted both individually and in concert with the School, the 


Emergency Manager, and Kraft to appropriate the Model for their own use 
and benefit in defiance of Mr. Scheere’s rights. 
 


2. Action under the Crime Victim’s Relief Act for Criminal Conversion: 
a. The City knowingly or intentionally exerted the unauthorized control over 


the property of Mr. Scheere. 
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3. Tortious Interference with Contract: 
a. Mr. Scheere had a valid contract for the purchase of the Model with the 


School. The City knew of the existence of said contract and the City’s 
actions intentionally induced the breach of said contract with no legal basis, 
and as a result Mr. Scheere has been damaged.  


 
As a result of the above-mentioned facts and issues, the School is liable for the following: 
 


1. Civil Conversion: 
a. The School acted both individually and in concert with the City, the 


Emergency Manager, and Kraft to appropriate the Model for their own use 
and benefit in defiance of Mr. Scheere’s rights. 
 


2. Action under the Crime Victim’s Relief Act for Criminal Conversion: 
a. The School knowingly or intentionally exerted the unauthorized control 


over the property of Mr. Scheere. 
 
 Mr. Scheere’s damages include, but are not limited to, property damage, loss of a contract, 
treble damages, costs of this action, and attorney’s fees.  Mr. Scheere advises that should he not 
receive the Model that he rightfully purchased promptly, his damages arising hereunder may 
exceed $150,000.00. 
 
 Pursuant to Indiana Code § 34-13-3-6, “if notice to the state agency involved is filed with 
the wrong state agency, that error does not bar a claim if the claimant reasonably attempts to 
determine and serve notice on the right state agency.”  Therefore, we respectfully request that if 
you are not the proper agency to receive this notice, and the proper agency is not included above, 
that you promptly notify us in order that we may serve notice on the correct agency.  Please contact 
us if the information provided is insufficient for you to investigate this claim, or if you need any 
additional information regarding this claim. 
 


Very truly yours, 
 
HAND | PONIST 


 


       
 


Rachelle N. Ponist 
Partner/Attorney 
RPonist@HandPonist.com 


 








 


 
 


 


 
 
 


July 18, 2019 
 


Via Certified Mail, Return Receipt 
 
Gary School Corporation                7015 0640 0002 0509 9666 
c/o Gary Schools Recovery, LLC 
150 West Market Street, Suite 800 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204    
 


NOTICE UNDER INDIANA CODE § 34-13-3.5-4  
& OFFER OF SETTLEMENT 


 
RE: Claimant: Jean-Christophe Scheere 
 Date of Event: January 19, 2019 – March 15, 2019 


 
Greetings: 
 
 Enclosed please find the Tort Claim Notice that was sent out to your office on July 16, 
2019 via certified mail. This letter serves as notice pursuant to Indiana Code § 34-13-3.5-4 with 
our specific requested relief of the Gary Community School Corporation (the “School 
Corporation”).  
  
 In addition to the tort liability described in the Tort Claim Notice, the School Corporation 
is in breach of its contractual obligations resulting from Mr. Scheere’s purchase of the Model (as 
defined in the Tort Claim Notice) at the auction held on January 19, 2019 and the School 
Corporation currently detains the Model unlawfully. Mr. Scheere intends to pursue all legal 
remedies available to him, including specific performance and replevin. In an effort for all parties 
to avoid the expense and burden of litigation, Mr. Scheere has authorized us to make an offer of 
settlement with the following terms: 
 


1. The School Corporation shall tender possession of the Model to Mr. Scheere, 
at the Gary Area Career Center as of a date and time to be specified in a 
definitive settlement agreement, and Mr. Scheere shall take possession at such 
date and time unless he is prevented from doing so by events beyond his 
reasonable control. 
 


2. Prior to Mr. Scheere taking possession, the School Corporation will safeguard 
the Model against loss or damage, including loss or damage by theft, 
vandalism, or other acts, to the extent it is within the School Corporation’s 
reasonable power to prevent such loss or damage. 
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3. Risk of loss and responsibility to insure will remain with the School 
Corporation until Mr. Scheere takes possession, at which time they shall pass 
to Mr. Scheere. 


 
4. Mr. Scheere will be responsible for arranging for the preparation of the Model 


for shipping and for transporting the Model to a destination of his choosing.   
 


5. The School Corporation shall furnish such reasonable assistance and 
cooperation as requested by Mr. Scheere or such other persons he may engage 
to prepare the Model for shipping and to remove it from the Gary Area Career 
Center, with Mr. Scheere to reimburse the School Corporation its actual cost 
of out-of-pocket expenses reasonably incurred by the School Corporation in 
doing so. 
 


6. The School Corporation shall deliver to Mr. Scheere a bill of sale for the 
Model and any other documents or instruments that Mr. Scheere may 
reasonably request, including any documents or instruments necessary to 
establish his ownership of the Model and to satisfy any export or import 
requirements of the United States, Belgium, or other jurisdictions relevant to 
transportation of the Model to the destination of Mr. Scheere’s choosing. 
 


7. The School Corporation shall defend and indemnify Mr. Scheere from and 
against (a) any claims of ownership or right of possession of the Model by 
any other individual or entity, to the extent such claims arise prior to, or arise 
from events that occur prior to, Mr. Scheere taking possession of the Model, 
excluding any such claims that arise solely from Mr. Scheere’s acts or 
omissions; and (b) any claims based on or arising from any allegation that the 
sale of the Model completed on January 19, 2019, was unauthorized or 
invalid, or any other allegation that Mr. Scheere did not acquire exclusive, 
unconditional, and unencumbered title to, or the exclusive right to possess, 
the Model as a result of such sale. 
 


8. The School Corporation shall release Mr. Scheere of all claims related to or 
arising from his purchase of the Model that was completed on January 19, 
2019. 


 
9. Mr. Scheere shall release the School Corporation; Gary Schools Recovery, 


LLC; the City of Gary; the Indiana Distressed Unit Appeals Board; and their 
respective officers, directors, members, managers, employees, and other 
representatives and agents; of all claims related to or arising from the failure 
of the School Corporation to deliver possession of the Model promptly after 
the sale of the Model was completed on January 19, 2019, whether arising 
from breach of contract or tort, including his claims for attorneys’ fees and 
other costs afforded under Indiana Code § 34-24-23-1.  (If, however, the 
School Corporation does not accept this settlement offer, forcing litigation, 
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Mr. Scheere intends to purse all his remedies, including attorneys’ fees which 
already exceed $40,000.) 
 


10. Such other incidental terms and conditions as the parties may mutually agree 
and incorporate into the definitive settlement agreement. 


 
This offer will remain open until August 2, 2019. If we have not had any meaningful 


discussions of settlement by that date, we intend to proceed with litigation to pursue all relief 
available to Mr. Scheere. We look forward to hearing from you. If you have any questions or 
concerns, please do not hesitate to contact us. 
 


Very truly yours, 
 
HAND | PONIST 


 


       
 


Rachelle N. Ponist 
Partner/Attorney 
RPonist@HandPonist.com 
 


Cc: 
 
Office of the Mayor of Gary 
 
City of Gary c/o Corporate Counsel 
 
Indiana Distressed Unit Appeal Board (c/o Daniel Schackle, via email) 
 
 
 








